
 
 
 

TONGANOXIE BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS  
Agenda 

February 6, 2020 
7:00 p.m. 

City Council Chambers 
321 S. Delaware St. 

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 

3. OLD BUSINESS 
 

4. NEW BUSINESS  
 

a) Variance Application – 404 E Hwy 24/40 – Submitted by Loren Feldkamp and 
Tonganoxie USD 464 

 
5. OPEN AGENDA is not available during this meeting. Comments received by the City Clerk or 

emailed to info@tonganoxie.org by 1:00 PM the day of the meeting will be reviewed and possibly 
shared for review by the Governing Body. Any public hearing comments or questions will also 
need to follow this submission process.   

 
6. GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
7.  ADJOURN 
 

mailto:info@tonganoxie.org


1 
 

 
 

City of Tonganoxie, Kansas 
 

PLANNING STAFF REPORT 

 
Case#:  2020-001BZA 
 
Application: Request for Variance to sign standards for a sign for an institutional use 

in the R-SF zoning district 
 
Action: A variance requires that the Board of Adjustments review the facts, and 

make findings of fact.  The Board may grand a variance only on the 
findings that the facts meet all five criteria of the zoning ordinance. 

 
Date of Report:  July 30, 2020 
 
Applicant Name:  Loren Feldkamp, Tonganoxie USD 464 
 
Property Owner Name:  USD 464 Board of Education 
 
Subject Property Address:  329 E. State Avenue, Tonganoxie, KS 66086 
 
Property Size:   71.45 acres (3,112,310 s.f.) 
 
Application:  

Zoning District:  R-SF, Residential Single Family 
Type of Approval Desired:  Variance to Sign Standards 
Legal Description:  Parts of Bury’s Addition further defined by metes and bounds 
Date of Application: June 22, 2020 
Date of Public Hearing: August 6, 2020  

 
Surrounding Property – Zoning and Use:  

West: GBD – General Business District; vacant and a bank 
South:  R-SF – Residential Single Family; single-family houses 
East: GBD General Business District, R-MF-2 Residential Multi-family 2, I-MT Moderate 
Industrial; bank and park. 
North: GBD General Business District; various business, services and institutions 
Vicinity: The property fronts on a highway on two sides at the transition between Tonganoxie’s 
older traditional neighborhoods to the south and highway strip commercial to the north and 
west. 
 

 

 



2 
 

 

I. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
A. Subject Property.  The property is a 71.45 acre parcel between Fourth Street, and the NW cure 

of U.S. 24/40 (24/40 bordering the north and west lot lines.)  The lot contains Tonganoxie High 
School, some accessory and administrative buildings, large areas of parking and circulation for 
the campus layout, and athletic and practice fields.  A site plan for a new addition to the school, 
including a new gymnasium east of the existing school building, was approved by the Planning 
Commission in April.  All existing and proposed building are situated in the center of the 
property, and do not have a strong relationship to the surrounding streetscapes, and little 
impact on adjacent properties.  Signs were not dimensioned or proposed with that site plan, and 
are handled through an administrative permitting process for any signs that meet the zoning 
ordinance standards.    

 
B. Proposal.  The applicant proposing a 684 square foot sign (9’ x 76’) on the north elevation of the 

new gymnasium, and a 643.86 square foot sign (30.66’ x 21’) on the east elevation of the new 
gymnasium.  The gym is proposed on the east side of the site, between the existing school and 
4th Street.  The signs will face U.S. 24/40 and 4th Street, respectively.  The building is 
approximately 200’ from the right of way of U.S. 24/40 and approximately 800 feet from the 
right-of-way line on 4th Street.  There is a large parking area and a landscape buffer between the 
lot line and the building (and an athletic field on the 4th street side), and there is a sidewalk and 
landscape area along the building facades where the proposed signs are located.  ...    

 
The sign ordinance allows the following in the R-SF zoning district relevant to this application: 
 

 Public / Semi-public Buildings – Wall Sign = 1 per frontage; Lessor of 10% of facade or 
100 square feet.  [Section 25-015, Table 2, Tonganoxie Zoning Ordinance.] 
 

In this case, the zoning ordinance limits the school to 1 wall sign per each frontage and up to 
100 square feet (all of the facades are well over 1,000 square feet, making the 10% limit 
ineffective by the standards.) 
 
The applicant did not provide a dimensioned drawing of the entire facades upon which each sign 
is located.  However, the approximate size based on the parts that are dimensioned and the 
drawing scales are 6,200 square feet (north elevation with the proposed 684 square foot sign) 
and 6,000 square feet (east elevation with the proposed 643.86 square foot sign).  Each facade 
is part of a larger elevation composition for other parts of the building complex. 
 

 
II. REVIEW CONSIDERATIONS 
 
 
The Board of Zoning Appeals is authorized in specific cases to grant a variance from the specific terms of 
the ordinance if the board finds that all of the following conditions are met.  [Facts to analyze under 
each criteria are included below each point.] 
 
1.     That the variance request arises from such conditions which is unique to the property in 

question and which is not ordinarily found in the same zone or district; and is not created by an 
action or actions of the property owner or applicant. 

 



3 
 

The property is a very large public institutional campus.  77.45 acres is over 200 times larger 
than typical lots in the R-SF, and substantially larger than typical public / institutional buildings 
that are found in the R-SF district.  As a large regional high school, it is not imbedded into a 
residential neighborhood and instead boarders on a regional access highway.  The closest 
residential district relationship is to the south where the rear of the school property back to the 
neighborhoods.  This area is not well connected and is buffered by a large wooded area.  The 
school site has stronger relationships with the commercial and institutional uses along the 
highway and across the highway, where even here the right-of-wayand street is very wide. 
 
The sign is part of a proposed new gymnasium which creates very large facades due to the scale 
and nature of this building type.  It is not a typical building in residential districts, and is also 
atypical for public and instructional buildings. 
 

2.     That the granting of the permit for the variance will not adversely affect the rights of adjacent 
property owners or residents. 

 
The proposed signs will not have any affect on adjacent residents, as each sign is visible only 
from the highway, and somewhat from 4th Street.  These areas have a closer relationship to 
business across U.S. 24/40 and 4th street, and are over 450 to 500 feet away on U.S. 24/40, and 
over 1,000 feet away on 4th Street.  
 

3.     That the strict application of the provisions of this ordinance of which variance is requested will 
constitute unnecessary hardship upon the property owner represented in the application. 

 
The ordinance establishes a system of regulating wall signs in proportion with the scale of the 
building (10% of the facade), presumably to preserve some human scale elements and keep signs 
from overwhelming a building and site.  However, it also includes a flat maximum, regardless of 
the size of the wall to limit overly large signs.  In this case, it would limit the signs to no more 
than 100’ on each facade. 
 
In non-residential districts, the sign ordinance does allow a bonus in size (between 25% and 
100%, depending on the setback) for wall signs where buildings are set back more than 200 feet  
[25.017.O.6., Tonganoxie Zoning Ordinance].  This provision does not apply to residential zoning 
districts, and the school is a public use permitted in the R-SF district. 
 

4.     That the variance desired will not adversely affect the public health, safety, morals, order, 
convenience, prosperity, or general welfare, and 

 
Sign ordinances typically balance the community desire for pleasant aesthetics, the avoidance of 
“sign clutter” that reduces the effectiveness of all signs and wayfinding, and the right of 
individuals, businesses and property owners to communicate and identify their locations.  In this 
case, the wall sign limitations seek to balance those interests with a sliding scale percentage that 
is capped at a certain size in all districts (50 s.f. in the HBD, 100 s.f. in Commercial districts and 
public uses in residential districts; and 150 s.f. in industrial districts).  The ordinance also has 
some provisions to relax these standards or entertain different options when these limits lead to 
unintended consequences on a particular site or location; however, none of those are applicable 
to a public use in the R-SF zoning district. 
 

5.     That granting the variance desired will not be opposed to the general spirit and intent of the 
zoning ordinance. 

 



4 
 

 
The sign ordinance has the following stated purpose:  “The purpose of this section is to recognize 
the community’s need for effective individualized identification, to prevent confusing and 
objectionable clutter, to promote traffic safety, to protect property values by enhancing the 
harmony between residential and commercial uses, and to preserve, protect and promote the 
public health, safety and general welfare.” [Section 25-010.A, Tonganoxie Zoning Ordinance] 

 
III. EFFECT OF DECISION 
 
After reviewing the information submitted and consideration of the testimony during the public hearing, 
if the Board finds that all five conditions can be met as required by Section 26-011.D, then it can grant 
the variance or grant the variance with conditions or limitations that ensure the criteria are met. If the 
Board does approve the variance, it will run with the land and should be filed with the Leavenworth 
County Register of Deeds.  If the board does not find that all five conditions are met it shall deny the 
variance request.  Any person aggrieved by any decision of the Board will have 30 days to file an appeal 
of the final decision in district court.  
 

Respectfully Submitted 

 
_________________________________ 
Chris Brewster, Contract City Planner 
Gould Evans 
  



5 
 

 

 
Current City Zoning  

 
 

 
 

Site 
 

 















CORNERSTONE FAMILY WORSHIP

G
O

U
LD

 S
T

BLO
CK 1 

PEARSONS S
UBDIV

IS
IO

N

VA
C

AT
ED

 V
AU

G
N

 S
T

70
'

D
EL

AW
AR

E 
ST

  6
0'

BLO
CK 2 

PEARSONS S
UBDIV

IS
IO

N

14
15

16

14

13
13

BLOCK "L"
BURY'S ADD

BLOCK "H"
BURY'S ADD

BLOCK "E"
BURY'S ADD

BLOCK "M"
BURY'S ADD

BLOCK "G"
BURY'S ADD

BLOCK "F"
BURY'S ADD

N
 B

R
IC

E 
ST

ZONE A

ZONE A

ZONE A

CO
CO 6"CO
CO 6"

CO
CO 6"CO
CO 6"CO

CO 6"

CO
CO 6"

D

24"

16"

18"

G
x

T x

T x T x
T

x

CO

Wx
Wx Wx

Wx
W x Wx

Wx
Wx

Wx

Wx Wx Wx Wx
Wx

Wx Wx Wx Wx

W
x

W
x

G x
G

x

G x G x G x
G x

G x

G x

G x

T
x

T
x

G x

Gx

SAN x

SAN x

SAN x

SAN x

SAN x

SAN x

SAN
x

SANx SANx SANx SANx

SANx SANx SANx SANx

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

STO x

CO
CO 6"

Wx W

x
OHUx

OHUx

E x

E x E x
E x

E x

E x

P

E

CATVx CATVx
CATVx

CATVx
P

P
E

CATVx
CATVx

CATVx CATVx CATVx
CATVx CATVx

CATVx
CATVx CATVx CATVx CATVx

CATVx
CATVx

CATVx CATVx CATVx
CATVx CATVx

CATVxE x

E x E

STO x

STO x

STO x STO x

STO x

STO x

STO x

STO x STO x

STO
x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SA
N

x
SA

N
x

SA
N

x

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx OHPx

OHPx OHPx
OHPx

OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx OHPx

OHP x

OHP x

OHP x

OHP x

OHP x

OHPx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

STOx

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

C

G x
G x

G x
G x

G x
G x

G x G x
G x

G x
G x

G x
G x

G x
G x

G x
G x

G x
G x

G x
G x

G x
G x

G
x

OHPx

OHPx

FOC

x

FOC

x
FOCx

FOC
x

FOC
x

FOCx

FOCx
FOCx

FOCx
FOCx

FOCx FOCx

FOCx
FOCx

FOCx
FOCx

FOCx FOCx

UGEx
UGEx

UGEx

UGEx UGEx

UG
E x

UG
E x

FOCx
FOCx

FOCx
FOCx

UGEx

UGEx
UGEx

UGEx

P

P

XFR

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

G
x G x G x

G x

G
x

SAN x SAN x

SA
N

x
SA

N
x

SA
N

x
SA

N
x

SA
N

x

SA
N x

SA
N x

SAN x
SAN x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

W
x

Wx

Ex

W
x

Wx
Wx

W W

W

XFR

CT

XFR

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

W

FOC

FOC
FOC FOC

FOC
FOC

FOC
FOC

FOC
FOC FOC

FOC
FOC

FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC
FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC

FO
C

FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC FOC

FO
C

PROPOSED GREENHOUSE
BUILDING (1,080 S.F.)

EXISTING GAS MAIN

EXISTING FIBER OPTIC
CABLE (MIDCO)

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER MAIN
(RE: SANITARY SEWER MAIN RELOCATION PLANS)

EXISTING WATER MAIN
(RE: WATER MAIN RELOCATION PLANS)

EXISTING UNDERGROUND
ELECTRICAL POWER (TYP.)

EXISTING FIBER OPTIC
CABLE (USD 464)

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER

PROPOSED WATER
SERVICE LINE

PROPOSED ELECTRICAL
POWER SERVICE

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER

EXISTING TONGANOXIE
HIGH SCHOOL BUILDING
TO REMAIN (57,510 S.F.)

PROPOSED TONGANOXIE
HIGH SCHOOL BUILDING

ADDITION (56,808 S.F.)

EXISTING TONGANOXIE
HIGH SCHOOL BUILDING
TO REMAIN (71,911 S.F.)

PROPOSED TONGANOXIE
HIGH SCHOOL BUILDING
ADDITION (36,290 S.F.)

STATE AVENUE US 24-40

PROPOSED GREASE INTERCEPTOR
AND CONNECTION

LEAVENWORTH COUNTY BENCHMARK:

LEAVENWORTH COUNTY VERTICAL CONTROL NETWORK. LVCO-401.

ELEVATION = 907.7

PROJECT BENCH MARK

C
H

IE
FT

AN
 R

O
AD

E WASHINGTON STREET

21
4T

H
 S

TR
EE

TNW1/4
NE1/4

SW1/4

N

SECTION 09-11-21

LOCATION MAP

SCALE 1" = 2000'

9

HIGHWAY 24-40

SE1/4

PROJECT
LOCATION

©
 D

LR
 G

ro
up

REVISIONS

12-19109-00

0 50' 100'

SCALE: 1" = 50'

N

GENERAL LAYOUT

C2.0

TO
NG

AN
OX

IE
 H

IG
H 

SC
HO

OL

30
0 

Ea
st

 S
at

e 
Av

en
ue

, T
on

ga
no

xi
e,

 K
S 

66
08

6

TO
N

G
AN

O
XI

E 
U

SD
 4

64

05/08/2020

100% DESIGN
DEVELOPMENT



Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

136' - 4"

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF PARAPET 

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-1

EXISTING BUILDING BEYONG

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

124' - 4"

112' - 0 1/4"

ROOF PARAPET 

T.O. CANOPY

EXISTING BUILDING BEYONG

ALUM STOREFRONT

B

B

ABADAEAF ACAGAJ YYAH

118' - 0"

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

RTU SCREEN RTU SCREEN

RTU SCREEN

1
0
' -

 0
"

2
1
' -

 0
"

EQ EQ

EQ EQ

PANEL SIGN, REF. SPECS

30' - 8"

FACE BRICK, FB-1

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

ROOF PARAPET 

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-1

T.O. CANOPY

112' - 0"

124' - 4"

ROOF PARAPET 

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

ALUM STOREFRONT

ALUM STOREFRONT

EXISTING BUILDING

D A

AC

A1A2A3A4

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

ACM PANEL, ACM-1

BRUSHED ALUMINUM DIMENSIONAL 
LETTERING, MOUNTED ON 2" ALUMINUM 
STAND-OFFS

RTU SCREEN

T.O. BRICK

1
8
' -

 0
"

4
' -

 6
"

9
' -

 0
"

4
' -

 6
"

29' - 0" 76' - 0" 29' - 0"

POWDER-COATED ALUMINUM LOGO SIMILAR TO 
DIMENSIONAL LETTERING CHARACTERISTICS, 

MOUNTED ON 2" ALUMINUM STAND-OFFS

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

6
' -

 0
"

EQ 8' - 9 1/4" EQ ± 50' - 3 3/4" EQ

6
' -

 0
"

ACM PANEL, ACM-1

BLOCKING FOR BUILDING SIGNAGE. 
COORDINATE LOCATIONS W/ SIGNAGE 
MANUF. & INSTALL BEFORE ACM PANELS

BLOCKING FOR BUILDING SIGNAGE. 
COORDINATE LOCATIONS W/ SIGNAGE 

MANUF. & INSTALL BEFORE ACM PANELS

RTU SCREEN

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING
136' - 0"

118' - 0"

HM DOORS & FRAME, PAINTED
FACE BRICK, FB-1

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

FACE BRICK, FB-1METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-1

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

FACE BRICK, FB-1

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

ROOF PARAPET 

ALUM STOREFRONT

ALUM STOREFRONT

EXISTING BUILDING BEYOND

117' - 6"

ROOF PARAPET 

K

L

H

J

A1 A2 A3 A4

19' - 4"

J

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

RTU SCREEN

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT. RE: MEP, TYP.

RTU SCREEN

RTU SCREEN

J J J

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

FACE BRICK, FB-1

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

FACE BRICK, FB-2

113' - 6"

118' - 10"

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF PARAPET 

N

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

RTU SCREEN

12' - 0" 22' - 0"

EXISTING BUILDING BEYOND

N

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

FACE BRICK, FB-1

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

FACE BRICK, FB-2METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

ALUM STOREFRONT

120' - 11"

125' - 11"

119' - 3"

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF PARAPET 

EXISTING BUILDING BEYOND

W

EJ DA DC DD DE DF EX.CBAB AD AE AFAC AG

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

RTU SCREEN RTU SCREEN

Level 02
114' - 0"

EXISTING WALL TO REMAIN

EXISTING DOORS TO REMAIN

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

NEW CANOPY
ROOF PARAPET 

126' - 5 3/8"

FINISHED FLOOR

RE: PLANS

©
 D

L
R

 G
ro

u
p

REVISIONS

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TI

O
N

 -

6
/1

5
/2

0
2
0

 1
:3

2
:5

9
 P

M

B
IM

 3
6
0

:/
/1

2
-1

9
1
0

9
-0

0
 T

o
n

g
a
n

o
x
ie

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h

o
o

l/
1

2
-1

9
1

0
9
-0

0
_

T
o

n
g

a
n
o

x
ie

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o

o
l_

A
R

_
2
0

1
9

.r
v
t

12-19109-00

05/08/2020

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

IE
 H

IG
H

 S
C

H
O

O
L

100% DESIGN
DEVELOPMENT

EXTERIOR
ELEVATIONS

A5.1

3
0
0
 E

a
s
t 
S

a
te

 A
v
e
n
u
e
, 
T

o
n
g
a
n
o
x
ie

, 
K

S
 6

6
0
8
6

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

IE
 U

S
D

 4
6

4

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.1

11 AREA A - EAST

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.1

21 AREA A - North

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.1

31 AREA A - SOUTH

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.1

41 AREA B - SOUTH
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.1

42 AREA D - WEST

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.1

14 AREA C - WEST



Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

133' - 3"

135' - 3"

119' - 11" 117' - 11"

108' - 5"

ALUM STOREFRONT

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF PARAPET 

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

FACE BRICK, FB-2

FACE BRICK, FB-1

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

?

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

ALUM STOREFRONT

FACE BRICK, FB-2

T.O. CANOPY

T

DDD
BB CC

Q

XAXBXCXDEAEBED FAFDFFFGFHFJFK

RTU SCREEN

ROOF ACCESS LADDER

DDD

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"Level 2.5

117' - 7"

135' - 3"

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

FACE BRICK, FB-2

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

FACE BRICK, FB-2

FACE BRICK, FB-1

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2 ALUM STOREFRONT

ALUM STOREFRONT

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF PARAPET 133' - 3"

119' - 11"

ROOF PARAPET 

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3 FACE BRICK, FB-2

FACE BRICK, FB-2

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

ALUM STOREFRONT

ALUM STOREFRONT

R P

Q

ST

FF

EE

EE

GG

GG

FF

FF

GG

GG

EE

U

U

EE

FF

FF

EE

GG

HH

F1F2F3F4F5F6F7F8F9F10F11F12F13X1X2X3E2 F6.5F8.5F9.5F10.5F10.6F11.5

BRUSHED ALUMINUM DIMENSIONAL 
LETTERING, MOUNTED ON ALUMINUM 
STAND-OFFS 1" FROM BUILDING

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

RTU SCREEN

RTU SCREEN

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 02
114' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

Level 03
128' - 0"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"Level 2.5

117' - 7"

119' - 11"

ROOF PARAPET 

133' - 3"ROOF PARAPET 

FACE BRICK, FB-2

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-3

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING ALUM STOREFRONT

ALUM STOREFRONT

S
T

PDD

CC

DD AA

BB

R

Q

E2E3E4

117' - 11"

ROOF PARAPET 

ROOF ACCESS LADDER

RTU SCREEN

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

108' - 5"

135' - 3"

FACE BRICK, FB-1

FACE BRICK, FB-2

FACE BRICK, FB-2

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

ROOF PARAPET 

GG

JJ

FF

HH KK

GG EE

JJ

FF

KK

FA FB FC FD FE FF FG FH FJ FK FL FM FN FP FQ

6
' 
- 

0
"

1
8
' 
- 

0
"

RTU SCREEN

T.O. BRICK

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

T.O. BRICK

108' - 5"

RTU SCREEN

ROOF PARAPET 

135' - 3"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

ROOF PARAPET 

FACE BRICK, FB-1

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

FACE BRICK, FB-2

108' - 5"

ALUM STOREFRONT

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

FACE BRICK, FB-2

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

EE

HH

GG

FF

GG

FF

V

V

GG

EE BB

DD BB

DD

DD

CC

CC

DD

GG

FF

Y

F1 F2 F3 F4 F5 F13F6.5 F8.5 F9.5 F10.5 F10.6 F11.5

135' - 3"

EXISTING BUILDING BEYOND

T.O. BRICK

3
' 
- 

4
"

6
' 
- 

8
"

7
' 
- 

4
"

6
' 
- 

8
"

6
' 
- 

8
"

7
' 
- 

4
"

4
' 
- 

0
"

6
' 
- 

0
"

135' - 3"

ROOF PARAPET 

131' - 11"

ROOF PARAPET 

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

125' - 11"

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

FACE BRICK, FB-2

ROOF PARAPET 

X

D1D2D3D4D5D5.5D6

2' - 10 3/4"50' - 0"

METAL WALL PANEL , MWP-2

PREFINISHED SHEET METAL COPING

FRAME-MOUNTED LIGHT.
RE: MEP, TYP.

125' - 11"

ROOF PARAPET 

©
 D

L
R

 G
ro

u
p

REVISIONS

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TI

O
N

 -

6
/1

5
/2

0
2
0

 1
:3

9
:0

2
 P

M

B
IM

 3
6
0

:/
/1

2
-1

9
1
0

9
-0

0
 T

o
n

g
a
n

o
x
ie

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h

o
o

l/
1

2
-1

9
1

0
9
-0

0
_

T
o

n
g

a
n
o

x
ie

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o

o
l_

A
R

_
2
0

1
9

.r
v
t

12-19109-00

05/08/2020

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

IE
 H

IG
H

 S
C

H
O

O
L

100% DESIGN
DEVELOPMENT

EXTERIOR
ELEVATIONS

A5.2

3
0
0
 E

a
s
t 
S

a
te

 A
v
e
n
u
e
, 
T

o
n
g
a
n
o
x
ie

, 
K

S
 6

6
0
8
6

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

IE
 U

S
D

 4
6

4

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.2

11 AREA E - EAST

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.2

21 AREA F - NORTH

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.2

12 AREA E - NORTH

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.2

31 AREA F - WEST

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.2

41 AREA F - SOUTH

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"A5.2

32 AREA D - NORTH



ACM PANEL, ACM-1, 
EXPOSED FASTENERS TO 
MATCH PANEL COLOR

FLUID APPLIED VAPOR 
BARRIER

Z-FURRING CHANNELS

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-1

SILL FLASHING, COLOR TO 
MATCH MWP-1

6" MTL. STUDS @ 16" O.C. 
W/ BATT INSUL.

1/2" GLASS MAT 
GYPSUM SHEATHING

2" RIGID INSUL. W/ VERTICAL 
Z-GIRTS @ 24" O.C.

1' - 0"

PRECAST CONCRETE 
PANEL, REF. STRUCT.

±
 9

 1
/4

"

TREATED WD. BLK'G

1/2"/12" SLOPE

R
E

F
. E

X
T

. 
E

LE
V

. 
D

IM
S

.
R

E
F

. E
X

T
. 

E
LE

V
. 

D
IM

S
.

BIRD DETTERENT SPIKES, 
CONT. ALONG LEDGE

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

F1

Level 1.5
103' - 7"

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 01 ST
100' - 0"

Level 01
100' - 0"

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

EJ DA

Level 2.5
117' - 7"

ACM PANEL, ACM-1, 
EXPOSED FASTENERS TO 
MATCH PANEL COLOR

FLUID APPLIED VAPOR 
BARRIER

Z-FURRING CHANNELS

METAL WALL PANEL, MWP-1

6" MTL. STUDS @ 16" O.C. 
W/ BATT INSUL.

1/2" GLASS MAT 
GYPSUM SHEATHING

2" RIGID INSUL. & Z-GIRT 
CHANNELS @ 24" O.C.

PRECAST CONCRETE 
PANEL, REF. STRUCT.

TREATED WD. BLK'G

1/2" / 12" SLOPE

R
E

F
. E

X
T

. 
E

LE
V

. 
D

IM
S

.
R

E
F

. E
X

T
. 

E
LE

V
. 

D
IM

S
.

METAL FLASHING, COLOR 
TO MATCH MWP-1

9
 1

/4
"

1' - 0"

BUILDING SIGNAGE, REF. SPECS

TREATED WD. BLK'G AS REQ'D 
FOR SUPPORT OF BUILDING 
SIGNAGE. ATTACH TO PRECAST 
PANEL. COORD. PLACEMENT OF 
BLK'G W/ SIGNAGE MANUF.

BUILDING SIGNAGE STAND-
OFFS & FASTENERS DRILLED 
THRU ACM PANEL

BIRD DETTERENT SPIKES, 
CONT. ALONG LEDGE

©
 D

L
R

 G
ro

u
p

REVISIONS

- N
O

T 
FO

R
 

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TI

O
N

 -

6
/1

5
/2

0
2
0

 1
:4

3
:4

6
 P

M

B
IM

 3
6
0

:/
/1

2
-1

9
1
0

9
-0

0
 T

o
n

g
a
n

o
x
ie

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h

o
o

l/
1

2
-1

9
1

0
9
-0

0
_

T
o

n
g

a
n
o

x
ie

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o

o
l_

A
R

_
2
0

1
9

.r
v
t

12-19109-00

05/08/2020

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

IE
 H

IG
H

 S
C

H
O

O
L

100% DESIGN
DEVELOPMENT

SECTION DETAILS

A10.6

3
0
0
 E

a
s
t 
S

a
te

 A
v
e
n
u
e
, 
T

o
n
g
a
n
o
x
ie

, 
K

S
 6

6
0
8
6

T
O

N
G

A
N

O
X

IE
 U

S
D

 4
6

4

SCALE: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"A10.6

16 B.D.  GYM SIGNAGE AT MWP HEAD

SCALE: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"A10.6

36 B.D. BELOW GRADE FOUNDATION WALL

SCALE: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"A10.6

14 B.D. CANOPY FASCIA

SCALE: 3/4" = 1'-0"A10.6

24 BD SILL AT BRICK ON CMU AT GRADE

SCALE: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"A10.6

13 B.D. TRANSITION AT BRICK TO MWP ON CMU

SCALE: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"A10.6

23 B.D. BRICK ON CMU AT GRADE

SCALE: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"A10.6

51 OPENING DETAIL-OVERHEAD FIRE DOOR HEAD

SCALE: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"A10.6

26 B.D.  GYM SIGNAGE AT MWP SILL



 
 
 

TONGANOXIE PLANNING COMMISSION  
Agenda 

August 6, 2020 
7:00 p.m. 

City Council Chambers 
321 S. Delaware St. 

 
*Note – This meeting may be transmitted via Facebook Live on the City of Tonganoxie page 

 
CALL TO ORDER – Planning Commission Meeting 

 
1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – June 4, 2020 

 
2. OPEN AGENDA is not available during this meeting. Comments received by the City Clerk or 

emailed to info@tonganoxie.org by 1:00 PM the day of the meeting will be reviewed and 
possibly shared for review by the Governing Body. Any public hearing comments or questions 
will also need to follow this submission process.   

 
3. OLD BUSINESS 

 
4. NEW BUSINESS  

 
a) Discussion of Upcoming Term Expirations and Appointments 

 
5. GENERAL INFORMATION 

a) Housing Reports –  
 

      6.  ADJOURN 
 

mailto:info@tonganoxie.org


 

Minutes - Page 1 of 3 
CORE/3516145.0002/160549954.1 

 
 
 

TONGANOXIE PLANNING COMMISSION 
Meeting Minutes 

June 4, 2020, 7:00 p.m.  
 

CALL TO ORDER 

• Chair John Morgan opened the meeting at 7:01 p.m. 
• Roll Call: Planning Commission ("Commission") members present were Chair John Morgan, Vice 

Chair Monica Gee, Zach Stoltenberg, John Kirk, Patti Bitler, Crystal Henson and Jennifer 
McCutchen. No Commission members were absent. City Manager George Brajkovic, City 
Attorney Anna Krstulic, Planning Clerk Melanie Bilby and City Planner Chris Brewster with 
Gould Evans were also present via Zoom.  
 

1. APPROVAL OF PC MINUTES – May 7, 2020 
 
o Ms. Gee moved to approve the minutes from the May 7, 2020 Commission meeting. 
o Mr. Stoltenberg seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 

 
2. OPEN AGENDA  
 

• No members of the public submitted and questions or comments for the open agenda portion of the 
meeting. 

 
3. NEW BUSINESS 

 
a)  Public Hearing – Special Use Permit – 615 E. 8th Street - Pupperazzi Dog Spa – Submitted by 

Brooke and Brandon Kesinger 
 

• Mr. Brewster presented the planning report for the application. He explained the requirements 
for the project and the zoning requirements, as well as the limitations of the special use permit. 
He noted that there are no signs proposed with this application and said that any proposed 
signage must be submitted with a sign permit application. He discussed the applicant’s 
business proposal, including hours of operation and how the proposed business would affect 
the surrounding neighborhood. He stated that staff recommends approval off a two-year special 
use permit.  

• Mr. Morgan asked if the applicant wished to address the Planning Commission. 
• Ms. Kesinger replied that it has been a long-term goal to open her own business in her home. 

She said that safety is her primary concern and she plans to see one customer at a time so that 
customers will not overlap. She stated that she has spoken with her neighbors and they were all 
supportive.  

• Mr. Morgan asked for any comments from the commissioners.  
• Mr. Kirk asked if any signs for the business would need to come back before the 

commissioners or if that would be approved at staff level. 
• Mr. Brewster responded that an application is required and it would likely be approved at the 

staff level.  



 

Minutes - Page 2 of 3 
CORE/3516145.0002/160549954.1 

• Ms. Krstulic asked the Planning Commissioners if anyone had any ex parte communication in 
regard to this application. 

• Ms. Gee replied that she spoke with Mr. Porter about this application to ask if it would be 
necessary to note in the motion that the applicant must require rabies vaccination records.  

• Ms. Krstulic stated that it would be an appropriate condition for a motion. 
• Mr. Stoltenberg asked the applicant to confirm that the business would be grooming services 

only and not boarding or exercise.  
• The applicant responded that it will be grooming and pet photography only.  
• Mr. Morgan stated that he would entertain a motion.   
o Ms. Gee made a motion to recommend approval to City Council of the Special Use Permit 

for Pupperazzi Dog Spa located at 615 E. 8th Street submitted by Brooke and Brandon 
Kesinger with the recommendations by staff and the added condition that applicant 
require rabies vaccination records for her clients. 

o Mr. Kirk seconded motion. 
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried.  

 
b) Public Hearing – Consideration of Revisions to Zoning Regulations – Anna Krstulic. City Attorney 

 
• Ms. Krstulic reviewed the proposed modifications to the Zoning Regulations regarding 

Commission appointments and explained the procedure for amendment.  
• Mr. Morgan opened the public hearing. There were no comments submitted by residents. 
• Mr. Morgan closed the public hearing. 
• Ms. Gee and Ms. Bitler felt that the revisions presented addressed the comments from the last 

meeting. 
• Mr. Stoltenberg stated that there should be a notice requirement for resignation of 

commissioners. He also noted that it would be better to have the annual training meeting take 
place after annual appointments.  

• Ms. Bitler stated that she felt that it would be difficult to enforce a notice requirement for 
commissioner resignation.  

• Mr. Morgan agreed with Ms. Bitler and stated that historically, it has been difficult to predict 
resignations.  

• Ms. Krstulic suggested that the Commission consider addressing resignations in the Bylaws.  
• Mr. Morgan asked for a motion.  
o Mr. Stoltenberg made a motion to recommend adoption of the proposed changes to the 

Zoning Regulations to the City Council.  
o Ms. Bitler seconded motion. 
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried.  

 
4. OLD BUSINESS 

a) Consideration and Discussion of Updates to Planning Commission ByLaws – Anna Krstulic, City 
Attorney 
• Ms. Krstulic referred to the redline of the Bylaws in the packet and stated that she addressed 

the commissioners' comments from the last meeting. 
• Mr. Morgan noted that the Bylaws state that old business should be addressed prior to new 

business, but the Commission typically addresses new business first.  
• The commissioners discussed the preferred order of the agenda.  
• Mr. Kirk asked how far in advance a posting is made for an opening on the Commission. 
• Mr. Brajkovic replied that staff try to post any opening as soon as possible and leave the 

application process open for 30 days.  
• Ms. Henson stated that a minimum posting period of 30 days is appropriate.  
• Mr. Stoltenberg asked for clarification as to whether these Bylaws only serve the Commission 

or if they include the Board of Zoning Appeals. 



 

Minutes - Page 3 of 3 
CORE/3516145.0002/160549954.1 

• Ms. Krstulic replied that the Commission and Board of Zoning Appeals are the same body 
pursuant to City Code so she can make clear that the Bylaws apply to both bodies.  

• Mr. Morgan asked for a motion.  
o Mr. Stoltenberg made a motion to recommend to the City Council adoption of the 

proposed changes to the Bylaws as written with the revision of the title to clarify that the 
Bylaws apply to both the Commission and the Board of Zoning Appeals and the addition 
of the 30-day requirement for open position postings.  

o Mr. Kirk seconded motion. 
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried.  

 
5. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
6.  ADJOURN 

 
o Ms. Gee moved to adjourn the meeting.  
o Mr. Stoltenberg seconded.  
o Vote of all ayes, motion carried. 
o Meeting adjourned at 7:46 p.m. 

 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
Melanie Bilby, Planning Clerk  

 



1 
 

TONGANOXIE PLANNING COMMISSION/BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS∗ 
BYLAWS 

June 2020 

I. MEMBERSHIP, POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE COMMISSION 

A. Membership.  The Commission shall consist of seven (7) members of which five 
(5) members shall be residents of the City and two (2) members shall reside outside 
the City limits, but within the designated planning area of the City which is within 
at least three (3) miles of the corporate limits of the City.  Members of the 
Commission serve without compensation.  

B. Appointments; Terms.  The members of the Commission shall be appointed by 
the Mayor with approval of the Governing Body in May of each year and take office 
at the next regular meeting of the Commission.  All members shall be appointed for 
staggered terms of three (3) years each, with terms beginning in June and expiring 
in May.  The appointments shall be made so that the terms of office of the members 
residing outside City limits do not expire within the same year.   

C. Vacancies.  Vacant, unexpired terms shall be filled by appointment by the Mayor 
with the consent of the Governing Body and such appointment shall be for the 
remainder of the unexpired term.  City staff will publicly post a request for 
applications for the vacancy for at least thirty (30) days, and the Commission will 
review the applications and make a recommendation to the Governing Body. 

D. Powers and Duties.  The powers and duties of the Commission shall be those 
authorized by the Tonganoxie City, Code, the Tonganoxie Zoning and Subdivision 
Regulations (the "Zoning Regulations"), and Article 7 of Chapter 12 of the Kansas 
Statutes Annotated, all as amended from time to time.   

E. Actions.  In all formal matters, the Commission shall act by motion, unless a 
resolution is required by the Zoning Regulations or other law.  All notices required 
by law to be given by publication shall be published in the official City newspaper. 

II. OFFICERS  

A. Officers.  The Commission shall elect from its membership a Chair, Vice-Chair 
and Secretary at the regular meeting in June.  Each officer shall serve for one (1) 
year and until a successor is elected.  Any vacancy may be filled at a regular or 
special meeting after such vacancy.   

1. Chair: The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Commission and decide 
all points of order or procedure; sign all resolutions and other official papers 

                                                 
∗ Section 16-105 of the Tonganoxie City Code designates the Planning Commission to serve as the Board of Zoning 
Appeals.  All references to "Commission" in these Bylaws includes the Board of Zoning Appeals. 



2 
 

and documents; appoint committees; and call special meetings and 
workshops; and perform such other duties specified in these bylaws. 

2. Vice-Chair: The Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair during the 
absence or disability of the Chair.  In the absence of both the Chair and the 
Vice-Chair, the members shall choose a Presiding Officer from among the 
members present, who shall have for the duration of the meeting all the 
authority and restrictions held by the Chair. 

3. Secretary: The Secretary shall sign approved plats and perform the duties 
of the Chair during the absence or disability of the Chair and Vice-Chair. 

B. Recording Secretary.  The Chair shall recommend a recording secretary who is 
not a member of the Commission to the Mayor for appointment with the consent of 
the Governing Body.  The recording secretary shall: 

1. Notify members of all meetings; 

2. Publish notices of all meetings and applications as required by the Zoning 
Regulations and Kansas statutes; 

3. Propose meeting agendas; 

4. Record the minutes of each meeting showing evidence presented, findings 
of fact, decisions, and the vote upon each question, and furnish copies of 
the minutes to the Commission and other appropriate persons as soon as 
practical for approval; 

5. Coordinate committee meetings and when required, attend committee 
meetings, record the minutes thereof, and furnish copies of the minutes to 
the committee members and other appropriate persons as soon as practical; 
and 

6. Keep a file of all official records, minutes and reports of the Commission; 
and 

7. Attend to all correspondence of the Commission. 

III. MEETINGS 

A. Regular Meetings.  The Commission shall meet regularly on the first Thursday of 
each month at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers, unless that Thursday is a 
holiday in which event the monthly meeting shall be held on the first Wednesday 
of the month.  The Commission may, by a vote at a preceding regular or special 
meeting, elect not to have a regular meeting on the first Wednesday preceding the 
holiday, or, for good cause, to cancel or change the date, time or place of a regular 
meeting. 



3 
 

B. Special Meetings.  Special meetings may be held at the call of the Chair (or Vice-
Chair in the absence of the Chair) for whatever time or purpose determined.  The 
Chair shall call a special meeting at the request of any three (3) or more 
Commission members submitted in writing.  If the Chair fails to comply with such 
a request, the meeting shall be called by the requesting members, all of whom shall 
sign the notice.  No matters other than those enumerated in the notice and call shall 
be considered at a special meeting. 

C. Workshop Meetings.  The Commission will hold workshop meetings as necessary 
for discussion and training purposes or any other business deemed appropriate by 
the Chair.   

D. Quorum.  At least the majority of the members of the Commission shall be 
necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.  The affirmative 
vote of a majority of the members present shall be required for the exercise of 
powers or functions conferred or imposed upon the Commission, but less than a 
majority of the members may meet and adjourn from time to time until a quorum 
is present. 

E. Order of Business.  At the appointed hour, the Chair shall call to order each 
meeting and upon the appearance of a quorum, the Commission shall proceed to 
consider the items set in the agenda in the following order: 

1. Roll Call; 

2. Approval of the minutes of the previous meeting; 

3. Open Agenda (no item shall be discussed at this time which should be 
legally published, or which necessitates notification of adjoining property 
owners); 

4. Old Business;  

5. New Business; 

6. Information & Communications (No Action Required);  

7. Adjourn. 

F. Agenda.  Items to be heard by the Commission must be submitted in accordance 
with the annually updated Application and Review Schedule.  The agenda shall be 
prepared one week prior to the date of the meeting and be available to the public by 
the Friday preceding the meeting.  The order of items on the agenda shall be at the 
discretion of the recording secretary.  The Chair may, for reasons stated to all in 
attendance, vary from the order of the agenda.  An item may be added to the 
published agenda only by affirmative vote of majority of the members present. 



4 
 

G. Meetings Open to the Public.  All meetings of the Commission shall be open to 
the public in accordance with the requirements of K.S.A. 75-4317 et seq. (the 
Kansas Open Meetings Act).  A meeting may be closed to the public and adjourned 
into an executive session until a specified time by a formal motion made and carried 
in accordance with applicable law.  No binding action shall be taken by vote in an 
executive session.  

H. Minutes.  The recording secretary shall record the proceedings of all Commission 
meetings.  The recording secretary may use a recording device to assist with the 
preparation of minutes.  Any recording will be retained for a minimum of sixty (60) 
days after approval of the minutes derived therefrom, unless a longer period is 
otherwise requested or required by law.  The proposed minutes of each regular or 
special meeting shall be distributed to the Commission and other appropriate 
persons as soon as practical for approval.  The original of the approved minutes 
shall be placed in the Commission's permanent record and shall become official 
records of the City. 

I. Robert's Rules of Order.  Unless otherwise specifically stated in these Bylaws, 
Robert's Rules of Order shall apply to all Commission procedures, motions and 
public hearings. 

IV. MOTIONS AND VOTING 

A. Motions.  Following closing of a public hearing or comment, a motion may be 
made to recommend approval or denial of the application to the Governing Body.  
A motion to continue the application to a date certain before the Commission may 
also be made.  The maker of the motion should include a brief statement of the 
reason(s) for the motion, as well as any stipulations relative to the application, 
plans, development procedure, etc.  Upon receiving the second, the motion may be 
discussed and, upon call for the question or at the discretion of the Chair, brought 
to a vote.  

B. Voting.  Votes shall be by voice or by the raising of hands or by roll call, at the 
discretion of the Chair.  Any member may call for a roll call vote on any issue.  Any 
motion may be tabled or amended in accordance with Robert's Rules of Order.  If 
the Commission feels that delaying an action would be in the best interests of the 
parties involved, the hearing may be continued to a date certain and the motion for 
continuance shall include the reason for the action.  All motions require a majority 
vote of those present. 

V. CONTINUANCES 

Any applicant or authorized agent shall have the right to two (2) continuances of a public 
hearing before the Commission, provided that a written request outlining the need for the 
continuance is submitted to City staff prior to the scheduled hearing.  The Commission 
may grant additional continuances for good cause shown.  All motions to grant a 
continuance shall state the date on which the matter is to be heard.  



5 
 

VI. APPLICANT NOT IN ATTENDANCE 

In case an applicant or the applicant's agent is not in attendance when an item is called, the 
Chair may, at the Chair's discretion, set the item over to the end of the agenda.  At the time 
the item is again called, if the applicant is still not represented, the Commission may 
continue, approve or deny the application as it sees fit. 

VII. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

A. Conflicts of Interest.  A member shall not participate or vote on an item before the 
Commission if: 

1. The member has a substantial interest in a particular item as defined by state 
law, including but not limited to K.S.A. 75-4301a et seq.; 

2. The member has expressed an individual opinion on the determination of a 
quasi-judicial matter or otherwise expressed him/herself in a way that infers 
an opinion has been formed prior to the Commission's hearing on the item; 
and/or 

3. The member owns property or is a prospective purchaser of property 
included in an application or within the statutory notification area. 

B. Procedure.  When a member of the Commission has a conflict of interest on a 
particular item before the Commission, the member shall so state for the record.  In 
such event, the member shall leave the room, and shall not participate in the hearing 
or discussion or vote on the item.  If the vacation of a chair due to a conflict of 
interest will eliminate a quorum, then the Commission shall continue the hearing to 
the next regular meeting. 

C. Ex Parte Contacts.  Prior to any motion on an application, members of the 
Commission should disclose the nature of any ex parte contacts and of any 
information obtained through those contacts that may have a bearing on their 
decisions. 

VIII. COMMITTEES 

A. Appointment.  The Commission may appoint committees to advise or assist in its 
activities.  The Chair shall appoint, with approval of the Commission, two (2) 
Commission members to a committee.  Any interested persons are invited to 
provide input to the committee.  The Chair shall appoint one member of the 
committee as the chairperson thereof, and the committee shall meet at such times 
and places as directed by the chairperson of the committee.   

B. Committee Reports.  When a committee originates a report, it must be complete 
when presented.  All committee reports should close with definite 
recommendation(s).  Committee reports shall be presented to the Commission by 
the chairperson of the committee. 



6 
 

IX. MEMBERS' ABSENCE 

A. Notice to Mayor.  If any member of the Commission fails to attend three (3) 
meetings in a rolling calendar year, the recording secretary shall notify the Mayor 
in writing, giving the name of the individual and the dates of the meetings missed. 

B. Consideration by Governing Body.  The Mayor shall cause the matter to be 
placed on the agenda for consideration by the Governing Body at its next regular 
meeting or shortly thereafter.  The Assistant City Manager or City Clerk shall notify 
the Commission member of the date and time of the meeting at which the 
Governing Body will consider the member's attendance record. 

C. Action by Governing Body.  The Mayor, with the consent of the Governing Body, 
may declare a vacancy and proceed to appoint a successor for the remaining term 
of the vacant position.  The Governing Body may continue the consideration of the 
vacancy or the appointment of a successor. 

X. AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS 

These Bylaws may be amended or repealed for stated reasons by affirmative vote of two-
thirds (2/3) of the Commission members.  These Bylaws, and any amendments thereto, are 
subject to approval of the Governing Body. 



PC Member Office Term Expires Notes
John Morgan - County Chairman August 21, 2020
Monica Gee - County Vice Chairman July 16, 2021
Zach Stoltenberg Secretary August 21, 2020
Crystal Hensen July 21, 2021
John Kirk August 5, 2022
Patti Bitler August 5, 2022
Jennifer McCutchen August 21, 2020 Replaced Kevin Harris


	2020-08-06_BZA Agenda Packet
	2020-08-06 -BZA Agenda
	Agenda

	Staff Report_200730_Variance_TonganoxieHighSchoolSign
	THS Variance Application
	Gym Wall Sign
	1000 - C2.0 GENERAL LAYOUT
	A5-1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	A5.1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A5.2 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS


	A5-2 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	A5.2 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS


	A10-6 - SECTION DETAILS
	Sheets
	A10.6 - SECTION DETAILS



	2020-08-06_Planning Commissiong Agenda Packet
	2020-08-06 PC Agenda
	Agenda

	06f_Attach_2020 PCBZA Bylaws-158037190-v5
	PC Terms
	2020 PC Terms

	ADPDABD.tmp
	CALL TO ORDER


	School Attachements_v2.pdf
	Gym Wall Sign
	1000 - C2.0 GENERAL LAYOUT
	A5-1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	A5.1 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	A5.2 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS


	A5-2 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	A5.2 - EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS


	A10-6 - SECTION DETAILS
	Sheets
	A10.6 - SECTION DETAILS






